1978

Melinda Rudd, Administratrix of The Estate of Hy Rudd v. Mel Parks : Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is a contract action commenced by Melinda Rudd, Administratrix of the Estate of Hyman Rudd, against Mel Parks, purchaser of Hyman Rudd's business, for collection of payments accruing after Hyman Rudd's death and payable in accordance with the provisions of a Covenant Not to Compete executed in connection with the sale of Mr. Rudd's business to Defendant.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court for Salt Lake County held that the death of Hyman Rudd did not terminate the obligation of Mel Parks to make payments under the subject Covenant Not to Compete, in a judgment made and entered on the 23rd day of September, 1977.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-Appellant seeks to have the judgment reversed, with instructions to the District Court to enter judgment dismissing Plaintiff's action. Alternatively, Defendant requests remand to the trial court to determine the amount of consideration to be attributed to the Covenant Not to Compete, including that part to be forfeited after the death of Hyman Rudd.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Melinda Rudd is the daughter of Hyman Rudd who died in October of 1975. She was appointed as Administratrix of the Estate of Hyman Rudd on December 12, 1975. Prior to October, 1973, Hyman Rudd had worked in the waste and refuse

collection business, under the name of Salt Lake Sanitation, of which he was the sole owner. Mr. Rudd had conducted his business in the Salt Lake area for many years and was well acquainted with the many competing companies and their personnel. He was also an active member of the Utah Trash Handler's Association.

Defendant Mel Parks is a resident of Boise, Idaho, and has also been associated with the trash collection industry in Idaho for many years (Tr. page 15, line 27)¹. During this career in the trash collection industry, Mel Parks had previously made purchases of such businesses (Tr. page 16, line 1-3).

On January 26, 1973, Hyman Rudd made a visit to his doctor complaining of chest pains, and was diagnosed as having had a heart attack. Sometime thereafter, Mel Parks was contacted by Hynda Rudd, the wife of Hyman Rudd and advised that he had had a heart attack and wanted to sell the business (Tr. pages 5-10). Several weeks later, Mel Parks visited Salt Lake City and talked to Mr. Rudd about the purchase of his business. After considerable negotiation, Mr. Parks instructed Jesse Walters, his attorney, to send Mr. Rudd a letter making a formal offer to purchase the business, stipulated on separate allocations of consideration for the sale of equipment, the sale of customer accounts and goodwill, and a covenant not to compete (Tr. page 17, line 26). This offer was discussed and negotiations continued until tentative terms were acknowledged as acceptable.

¹Since the proceedings at the District Court were conducted in accordance with a pre-trial order dated June 23, 1977, and signed by the Honorable Earl Baldwin, Jr., much of the fact summary is based on that source. Citations in support of such facts have not been included in view of the stipulated facts of the pre-trial order. Any facts not specifically recited in the subject trial order have been appropriately identified by cross references to the trial record.

by the parties in September, 1973.

Upon obtaining a tentative agreement, Mel Parks instructed his attorney, Jesse Walters, to prepare documents to effect the sale and purchase of Salt Lake Sanitation. These documents consisted of (1) Agreement to Sell and Purchase Equipment, (2) Agreement to Sell and Purchase Customer Accounts and Goodwill, and (3) Covenant Not to Compete. Both Parks and Rudd were advised by their respective accountants, Ray Carter and Dexter Snow, as to the tax aspects of these agreements. Rudd was specifically advised by Snow as to the adverse tax effects of the Covenant Not to Compete, to the effect that such payments would be taxed as ordinary income and not capital gains. It was Hyman Rudd's determination that such terms were acceptable in order to effect the sale of the business and were the only terms on which Mel Parks would buy Salt Lake Sanitation.

The three stated agreements were signed by Mel Parks in Idaho and then by Hyman Rudd in Utah. The terms of the Agreement to Sell and Purchase Equipment (Exhibit 3-P), and the Agreement to Sell and Purchase Customer Accounts and Goodwill (Exhibit 2-P) were fully performed by both parties. The first of these agreements conveyed equipment to Mel Parks for a total consideration of \$83,000. The agreed form of payment was that Mel Parks would assume outstanding debts owed by Rudd totaling \$82,613.88, and would pay the difference of \$386.12 in cash. The second agreement transferred customer accounts and goodwill to Parks in exchange for a \$15,000 cash payment.

The third agreement was a Covenant Not to Compete operable over a period of five years. The consideration to be paid by Parks for the forbearance of Hyman Rudd under this Covenant Not to Compete consisted of "the sum of \$95,000, payable

as follows: the sum of \$6,500 on January 20, 1974, and the sum of \$1,500 per month on the 20th day of each month thereafter until December 20, 1978. . . " Mel Parks faithfully performed his payment obligations under this agreement until the death of Hyman Rudd in October, 1975, paying a total of \$36,000. Parks did not make further payments following Rudd's death.

During the performance period prior to the death of Hyman Rudd, no objections were raised by either party as to any term of the agreements. The only agreement in issue is the Covenant Not to Compete, that issue being raised by the Estate as to the continuation of payments after the death of Hyman Rudd. Mr. Parks asserts that the payment obligation under a Covenant Not to Compete terminates at the death of the noncompeting party. The Estate of Mr. Rudd claims a right to continued payments.

ARGUMENTS

The primary basis of error presented herein deals with the failure of the Trial Court to treat the subject Covenant Not to Compete as a restrictive covenant with the attendant legal limitations as to purpose and enforceability. Defendant submits that the Court, instead, viewed the Covenant as a means to sell the business, and not as an agreement having separate and distinct value aside from the conveyance of business assets. Defendant asserts that if the Court had treated the subject Covenant in accordance with the expressed intent of the parties to have a formal covenant not to compete, both law and equity would have resulted in a holding in favor of Defendant.

POINT I

EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT FINDING BY COURT THAT THE SALES TRANSACTION WAS MERELY "FORMALIZED BY USING THREE SEPARATE DOCUMENTS TO GIVE IT LEGAL EFFECT..." (Tr. page 120, line 1-2).

The clear implication of the trial court's finding as stated above is that the Covenant Not to Compete was an arbitrary allocation of a total sales price and therefore should not be the basis for avoiding full payment of the total sales price. This conclusion is contrary to the preponderance of evidence presented at trial, especially in light of Plaintiff's burden of proof. Defendant submits that the weight of evidence establishes that the Covenant Not to Compete was an essential part of the transaction and not the product of mere formalization.

It is admitted, for example, by stipulation in the pre-trial order (R. 139, paragraph 1) and by Plaintiff's Findings of Fact (No. 8, R-192) that the Agreement to Sell and Purchase Equipment and the Agreement to Sell and Purchase Customer Accounts and Goodwill "having been fully performed, present no problem in this cause, having been admitted to establish the entirety of the transaction, and the validity of the Non-Competition Covenant as ancillary to the sale of a business." If indeed the first two agreements have been fully performed and there are no problems with respect thereto, then the effect of these agreements should stand as written. This is true with respect to sufficiency of consideration inasmuch as Plaintiff has not placed any of the provisions of these two agreements in issue.

Inspection of the Agreement to Sell and Purchase Equipment shows that consideration of \$82,000 was paid by Mel Parks in return for equipment conveyed in connection with the purchase of the business. Plaintiff neither alleged nor proved that the \$82,000 payment was substantially below the market price of the

equipment, nor that the consideration was insufficient on any basis. Hyman signed the agreement, performed under the agreement, and made no objection to the terms of the agreement. Indeed, Plaintiff has confirmed that the agreement was performed in full and is not an issue, except to establish the entirety of the transaction.

Likewise with the Agreement to Sell and Purchase Customer Accounts and Goodwill, Plaintiff has confirmed full performance and satisfaction with the terms thereof. Plaintiff produced no evidence showing improper valuation of either customer accounts or goodwill, nor was such an issue raised during the proceedings.

Under the pre-trial order which governs the proceedings in trial, this same fact was specifically admitted, stating in Section III, para. K.:

"The terms of agreement i and ii have been fully performed by both parties. Exhibit i conveyed equipment to Parks for a total consideration of \$83,000---\$386.12 in cash to Rudd and the balance as assumption of outstanding debts owed by Rudd. Exhibit ii transferred customer accounts and goodwill to Parks in return for \$15,000 in cash."

If the effect of these agreements, having been fully performed, was to convey the business equipment, customer accounts and goodwill, then the clear implication is that there is no issue with respect to the sufficiency of consideration of the transferred items under the two agreements.

The Covenant Not to Compete, therefore, which was the only agreement in issue in this case, could not reasonably be construed to be consideration for the purchase of equipment, accounts and goodwill. Since these were the only assets of the business, the only item of value remaining in the transaction was to the forbearance from competition by Hyman Rudd, as was stated in the Covenant.

Not to Compete. This conclusion is specifically stated in the premises of the Covenant Not to Compete (Exhibit 1-P, line 13), "WHEREAS, the Seller has sold to Buyer, and the Buyer has purchased from Seller, the Salt Lake Sanitation, NOW THEREFORE..." (Emphasis added). It is apparent that the past tense expressed "has sold" and "has purchased" represents the clear intent of the parties that the Agreements to Sell and Purchase Equipment, and to Sell and Purchase Customer Accounts and Goodwill had, in fact, already transferred the business assets to Mel Parks before effecting the Covenant Not to Compete.

Since the first two agreements had in fact been fully performed as admitted by the Plaintiff and expressed by the "Whereas" clause in the Covenant Not to Compete, then the business assets were sold at such time of full performance of these respective first two agreements. It is therefore inconsistent to assert that payments due under the Covenant Not to Compete represent further consideration for the same purchase of business assets.

The evidence presented at trial supports the proposition that the Covenant Not to Compete was intentionally included in the transaction for the purpose of preserving the purchased business in the hands of Mel Parks and was therefore based on separate consideration. As stated previously, Hyman Rudd had a long association in the trash collection industry in the geographical area in which Park's newly acquired business would operate. The close business relationships developed by Hyman Rudd over this long period of time and his long standing association with the many competing trash hauling businesses in the area presented a serious threat to the value of the purchase made by Parks, unless such a Covenant

Not to Compete was placed in effect. Without such a covenant Hyman Rudd could take advantage of his long relationship with both customers and competing enterprises and virtually destroy Salt Lake Sanitation, along with any value acquired in the purchase transaction.

The fact that Mel Parks was a total stranger to the community, being a resident of Boise, Idaho, further emphasized the risk of such a purchase with the associated Covenant Not to Compete. It is well known, for example, that customers to a service related enterprise such as the trash collection industry place primary reliance on the management and not on the mere ownership of the business. Therefore the acquisition of Salt Lake Sanitation by Mel Parks, a man totally unknown to the former customers of Hyman Rudd, would represent little or no guarantee of future business with such customers. Hypothetically, Hyman Rudd could have acted in a consultant capacity to one or more competing trash hauling companies and utilized his personal influence with former customers to motivate a change of accounts away from Salt Lake Sanitation.

Having transacted other purchases of trash collection businesses (Tr. 16, line 10), Mel Parks appreciated the gravity of risk in coming into a new business and taking over an ongoing business. It was for this reason that the Covenant Not to Compete was included in the transaction. As stated in Mr. Park's testimony (Tr. page 30, line 9-18) and as stipulated in the admitted facts under the present order, Mr. Park's would not have purchased Salt Lake Sanitation, except for the inclusion of the Covenant Not to Compete.

The fact that all of the parties to this lawsuit acknowledge that Mel Parks would not have purchased the Salt Lake Sanitation business for the stated total

purchase price of \$192,000 is clear evidence showing the primary consideration basis of the Covenant Not to Compete. The failure of Plaintiff to negate this fact leaves little doubt that the Covenant Not to Compete was an integral element to the meeting of the minds on this sale of transaction, and not the result of mere formalization of a sale of business assets.

POINT II

THE TRANSFER OF SALT LAKE SANITATION BY MEANS OF THREE AGREEMENTS STATED IN TERMS OF A TOTAL SALES PRICE DOES NOT SUPPORT A CONCLUSION THAT THE AGREEMENTS COMPRISED A SINGLE CONTRACT WHOSE PAYMENT PROVISIONS ARE IMMUNE FROM THE INDIVIDUAL EFFECTS APPLYING TO EACH OF THE THREE AGREEMENTS.

In viewing the facts of the subject transaction, the Court should note the commercial realities which face parties involved in the sale of a sole proprietorship such as Salt Lake Sanitation. It has been held, for example, that where a sole proprietor sells his entire business, that business must be "commimuted into its fragments." William V. McGowen, 152 F2d 570 (2 Cir). Under the present law, the fragments consist of (1) goodwill which is a capital asset, (2) equipment and fixtures, and (3) merchandise, accounts, and notes receivable, which are ordinary assets. P-H Fed Tax 32,097 "Sale of entire business." Defendant asserts that this transfer was effected by the first two agreements previously discussed.

Frequently, such a sale of an entire business will not be of value unless the Buyer is able to protect himself against subsequent competitive acts of the Seller. The Covenant Not to Compete is usually included to give legal effect to such protection. It is well accepted law, however, that this "restrictive covenant must be incidental or ancillary to a valid contract of sale or other transfer of

property if it is to be enforceable." See 45 ALR 2d 77. It is not surprising, therefore, that many legal form books incorporate a Covenant Not to Compete paragraph into a single sales transaction agreement (Tr. page 100, lines 7-10). Furthermore, it is not uncommon for such a sales transaction agreement to specify a total sales price and then allocate the total sales price into its respective fragments of assets and also to a value for the Covenant Not to Compete. When an allocation of consideration is not made to the Covenant Not to Compete, the Courts have had occasion to assign a value to the Covenant Not to Compete based on the intent of the parties. In the tax case of Comm. v. Killian 314 F2d 852, (5 Cir., 1963) the Court stated:

"Whether any portion of the sales price should be attributed to a Covenant Not to Compete depends upon whether the parties treated the Covenant as a separate and distinct item and whether the purchasers actually paid anything for the Covenant as a separate item in the deal."

Both the evidence presented at trial and the express agreements of the parties support the proposition that not only was the subject Covenant Not to Compete treated separately, but that the Covenant Not to Compete was the basis of finalizing the agreement. As was admitted by the parties hereto that except for the Covenant Not to Compete with its accompanying restriction, Mel Parry would not have purchased the business. It is clear therefore that the Covenant Not to Compete was a separate and critical part of the sales transaction and should be considered as a separate aspect of consideration.

Plaintiff has not shown that the total sales price was determined with regard to a Covenant Not to Compete or that the Covenant was without independent

consideration from the business assets. Plaintiff has also failed to show that the covenant was not treated as a "separate and distinct item." Instead the testimony and documents show that the Covenant Not to Compete was a condition of the sale from the very outset of negotiations. The testimony of Parks was, "I agreed to buy the business stipulated on three separate contracts." (Tr. page 14, lines 15, 26.) The testimony of Mr. Walters, who drafted the agreements, was "I was instructed by Mr. Parks relative to the important terms of the Covenant Not to Compete, precisely, the financial amount and the location of the noncompete agreement as to what area it would cover." (Tr. page 93, lines 23-26.) His testimony further indicated that it was Mr. Park's instructions to effect the transaction by three separate agreements, and such decision was not his choice of drafting. (Tr. page 93, line 27.) The overall effect of the evidence as to the "separate and distinct" treatment of the Covenant Not to Compete is given by the trial court as follows:

"Isn't it quite evident that we all know that it (Covenant Not to Compete) was an integral part? It was an important part of the contract. You've got it here signed by both parties." (Tr. page 116, lines 27-30.)

It is therefore submitted that the three agreements forming the sales transaction, and particularly the Covenant Not to Compete, were not merely "formalized...to give it legal effect..."; but to the contrary, the Covenant Not to Compete had separate and independent meaning from the first two agreements effecting the sale of business assets.

For the Trial Court to state that the three agreements appeared to form "one entire transaction between Parks as the Buyer and Rudd as the Seller", does

not therefore resolve the issues of this case. As has been shown, virtually every sale of an on-going business with a Covenant Not to Compete will appear as "a transaction" because the restrictive covenant must be ancillary or incident to the sale. In the present case Parks did all he could to show separate and independent intent of the covenant. He directed his attorney to draft it as a separate agreement. He conditioned the sale on the execution of such a covenant and he extended the payment obligations of the covenant over a period of time consistent with the noncompetition obligation of Rudd.

POINT III

REFERENCE BY THE PARTIES TO A "TOTAL SALES PRICE" DOES NOT NEGATE THE INDEPENDENT VALUE AND LEGAL STATUS OF THE COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE.

During the course of the trial Mr. Parks indicated his expectation at the time of signing the subject agreements that \$192,000 would be paid to Rudd. The Court apparently determined from this expectation that the agreements represented an "entire transaction" totaling \$192,000, and that Parks should be required to pay this amount, based on this expectation. This conclusion, however, ignores the specific finding of fact that this expectation was founded on the state of mind of both parties would survive the contract period of five years. This finding was summarized by the trial Court during Defendant's hearing for Motion to Amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, as follows:

Court: "I think at the time he (Parks) entered into the contract, he had no idea that either one of them was going to die. They didn't think about that matter. I don't believe they considered it at all. It isn't like a marriage covenant where they say, until death do you part. But I don't think they considered it. Just entered into the contract and it was a package deal and Mel Parks expected to pay the full amount of

consideration. They expected to get the property described and they expected to pay the performance of Hyman Rudd not to compete and the consideration was fully delivered so that he (Parks) owed the full amount of the money."

Mr. Parks confirmed this basis of expectation of payment by specific testimony indicating that his statements regarding full payment were based on assumption that Rudd would survive the contract period (Tr. page 118, line 10-12).

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