1978

Melinda Rudd, Administratrix of The Estate of Hy Rudd v. Mel Parks : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

Interest:	6 1/2% on unpaid bal.		Included in \$192,000

The tax consequences of the change has a traumatic negative impact on the net returns of the Seller and a positively beneficial result for the Buyer. The capital gains return to Seller was reduced by lessening the value of the equipment and the portion taxed to the Seller as ordinary income increased by increasing the amount allocated to the Covenant Not To Compete.

It is an arbitrary change in value determination. Since the Covenant Not To Compete protects the good will (capital assets), how does Buyer, the Defendant-Appellant, justify the \$30,000 increase in value of the non-compete element without an increase in value of the good will element? Further, there was an actual decrease in the value of the equipment schedule (Capital Gain to Seller) to meet Seller's demand of a \$12,000 increase in Total Purchase Price to \$192,000. It is apparent from these negotiations that the business was valued as a whole and the allocations were **arbitrarily determined for tax purposes.**

The Transcript establishes that the changes were calculated by Buyer to his advantage. Appellant testified his tax adviser established the final \$95,000 value for the Non-Compete Agreement so he could deduct that sum as an operating expense, and without this allocation, he would not buy. (R 254 Ln 9 to end and R 255 to Ln 19) "That was the only terms on which I would buy".

At the time of the deliberations, the effect of the death of Rudd on the performance of the contract never entered Parks' mind - "Didn't think anything about death" (R 342 Lns 19; R 250 and 251 Lns 147).

The purpose of a non-compete covenant is to protect the good will of a business. Allen vs. Rose Park Pharmacy 120 U, 608; 237 P2d 823, and Appellant's Brief page 16).

How does he then justify as reasonable a \$95,000 value for the protection of a business asset whose value he assesses for tax purposes at only \$15,000?

How does Defendant-Appellant justify almost 50% of the total purchase of a business to protect its good will (one of its included assets whose value is less than 8% of the purchase price)?

A \$95,000 purchase price for the covenant not to compete buys Appellant no more protection insofar as recovery for breach is concerned than \$60,000. Unlike insurance, increase of premium does not increase coverage.

There is no stipulation for liquidated damages and if Rudd has violated the contract, Defendant-Appellant's recourse would not have been refusal to make contract payments, but he would have been entitled to recover as damages only loss of profits.

The consideration for the covenant was the principal sum of \$95,000 but such sum, as an accommodation to the Buyer, was payable over a period of time to spread the payments over a period of years.

POINT II

MR. RUDD, HIS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AND HEIRS HAVE FULLY OBSERVED THE COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE.

This contract is not analogous to a contract requiring affirmative personal services such as the contract of a singer or dancer. Obviously, the contract of a singer or dancer is terminated on death since that person can no longer perform the services required and it is well settled that the impossibility of performance terminates the contract.

In this case, Mr. Rudd was not required to do an affirmative act but to refrain from performing acts.

With one notable exception, human experience indicates that Mr. Rudd will not return from death to establish a competing business. Mr. Rudd has in fact performed the ultimate act that assures and guarantees the Defendant-Appellant that his good will is secure from competition by Mr. Rudd!

Those cases and authorities cited by Appellant's Counsel to indicate that performance is discharged by death relate to performance or to exclusive rights for performance and are not applicable to this situation.

17 Am Jur 2d page 829, refers to "The prevention by an act of God of full performance of the entire contract..." whereas in this case, full observance is assured by the act of God.

There is no specific provision in the covenant relating to the

effect of the death of the Covenantor (Rudd) and the general authority is stated as follows: 17A Corpus Juris Secundum, Contracts page 626,

"However, it has been said that, with a few exceptions, contracts do not die with the contractor unless they contain a provision to that effect; and a contract will be construed as subject to an implied condition of survivorship only when the continued existence of a party is assumed as the basis of the agreement."

17 Am Jur 2d, Contracts page 865,

"The test for determining whether a particular contract is discharged by death has been said to be whether it is of such a character that it may be performed by the promisor's personal representative..."

In the instant case, the personal representative of the deceased has exclusive right to the name of the deceased and she and/or the heirs could have entered a competing business or could have refrained from so doing. They and each of them refrained, and therefore the contract has been fully observed.

POINT III

SELLER DREW THE CONTRACT, PROVIDED FOR PAYMENT OF A TOTAL SUM, AND IN COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE STATED THE PROVISIONS ARE TO APPLY TO AND BIND THE HEIRS, EXECUTORS AND ASSIGNS, AND SAID CONTRACT SHOULD BE STRICTLY CONSTRUED AGAINST DRAFTER, WHO SHOULD NOT BE RELIEVED FROM HIS OBLIGATION TO PAY BY AN ACT OF GOD.

Mr. Parks (Defendant-Appellant) in drafting the instrument that is the subject of this case, could have provided that Mr. Rudd would receive a certain payment for each month in which he did not compete until the death of Mr. Rudd and that the contract would terminate on death and not be payable to the heirs, executors and assigns. Mr. Parks did not avail himself of these alternatives, but to the contrary provided for the payment of the sum of \$95,000 and for his convenience made the sum payable in monthly installments

over a period of years to a given specific date. Mr. Parks further provided that the contract was binding on the heirs, executors and assigns of the parties.

The Covenant Not to Compete in essence combines two agreements:

1. A Promissory note in the amount of \$95,000 payable to Mr. Rudd, his heirs and assigns, and payable in installments
2. An agreement of Mr. Rudd not to compete with Mr. Parks.

If Mr. Parks had paid the \$95,000 coincidentally with the execution of the contract rather than conveniencing himself by making the payments over a period of time, then, assuming, arguendo, that the death of Mr. Rudd was a breach of contract, Mr. Parks would have to attend the Court and show the damages incurred by Mr. Parks as a result of the untimely death of Mr. Rudd. Such damages, if any there were, may or may not have been equal to the sum of \$1,500 per month. It is not equitable for Mr. Parks to now claim that because he, in drafting his contracts, developed for himself a convenient payment program, that the monthly payments constitute an agreement in relation to liquidated damages.

The Trial Court found the intent of the parties at the time of signing was to create a package deal as a result of which Buyer got all he dealt for and he should pay a full purchase price of \$192,000; \$95,000 of which was attributed, for the tax and business purposes of the Buyer, to a covenant not to compete (R 192, 193 and Findings of Fact 13 and 14).

The Court concluded, "The entire Contract of Sale of the Salt Lake Sanitation Business was one contract involving a total consideration of \$192,000 which consideration for business purposes and tax benefits of the

Buyer, was divided into three parts, and the Defendant is not excused from the payment of any portion of the purchase price."

Argument supporting Points I and II are adequate to establish the premise of Point III as it applies to the instant case.

Reference to the Covenant Not to Compete Instrument itself (Exhibit 1P) gives additional support.

The instrument is dated October 1, 1973 and stipulates non-competition "For a period of five years from the date hereof".

It stipulates payment of \$95,000. No payments were required for the first three months. The first payment of \$65,000 was required on January 20, 1974, and thereafter, monthly installments of \$1,500 on the 20th day of each successive month until the purchase price was paid in full. The time periods are not identical date intervals and show them to be totally independent and severed of each other. The totality of the amount due and the specified final date of payment give proof of the totality and indivisibility of the payment in this instrument. This covenant falls within the framework of an entire agreement with a total six figure price of \$192,000.

This instrument further stipulates, "It is expressly understood that the stipulations aforesaid are to apply to and bind the heirs, executors and administrators of the respective parties".

The law requires every effort must be made to give reasonable interpretation to a contract and must strictly construe against the party drawing it (Guinand vs. Walton 22 U2d 196; 450 P2d 467) especially if a forfeiture is involved, Wingets, Incorporated vs. Bitters 28 U2d 231; 500 P2d 1007. It follows that this sentence particularly highlighted by its introduction means that the Estate of Hy Rudd will pay damages to the Buyer to

compensate for acts of competition by the minor children of the Seller should he die during the five years.

The Court found the children had not competed (Findings of Fact [R192] Finding #10).

Ulmann vs. Sunset-McKee Co., March 1955 9th Circuit, 221 Fed 2d 128, supports the judgment here. The parties in the Trial Court stipulated deceased was to refrain from competition during the three years he was to draw a monthly pension, after he completed a working career with Sunset-McKee. The Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Court which upheld Company's refusal to pay after employee's death declaring:

Page 132. "But the Court chooses primarily to uphold the contract as binding for the reason that the consideration to support the Company's obligation is to be found in Ulmann, Sr. being required not to compete by soliciting for any other employer his so called 'protected accounts' ..."

The cases cited by Defendant-Appellant are readily distinguishable from the matter here, and are not entitled to consideration.

First case is Keller vs. California Liquid Gas, August, 1973 Wyo., 363 Fed Supp 123. Defendant, California Gas Co. bought two businesses, a wholesale liquid gas company and a liquid gas appliance company from the Sellers. Terms of sale of the business are not stated in the Covenant Not to Compete nor are they referred to in any way. Ancillary to the sale of the above businesses, Sellers, by separate agreement, also entered into a 10 year non compete agreement by sellers for which buyers were to pay \$100,000 in 10 yearly installments of \$10,000 each, on October 30th of each succeeding year. Sellers crashed in an air accident the year following sale.

Central to Court's decision was the fact that the children of the deceased who are co-plaintiffs, had aggressively competed against defendant.

The Court, treating this fact, declared:

Page 128. "The right to specific performance depends upon circumstances and conditions in addition to the existence of a valid contract. Though the contract be free from fraud, mistake or other feature that would authorize a Court to set it aside, equitable relief may be denied if in acting under it plaintiffs have resorted to unfair conduct. These are all expressions commonly used in elaboration of the hoary maxim, 'He who comes into equity must come with clean hands'...Plaintiffs would ask the Court to allow them to compete against the Defendant while still requiring payments under a covenant, which as shown, has ceased to exist. The Court cannot be party to such an unconscionable bargain."

It dealt with the death issue terminative of the not to compete clause because these were frowned upon as in restraint of trade.

The Keller contract was not entire in the sense that it was integrated with the other elements of the purchase in a single price.

The Keller case further made no provision about heirs and administrators as the instant case.

Interesting is the observation of the Circuit Court in the Ulmann case (supra):

Page 133. "While always a court must seek to divine the intent of the parties, it may be doubtful if the parties here ever put their minds to the question of 'Suppose Ulmann Sr. dies', yet the underlying tenor of the agreement seems to be that the Company was willing to reward Ulmann, Sr. with a total of \$5,400 payable in 36 installments of \$150 each..."

Also, (8,9)"...If the construction of the agreement here (which seems to have been designed and executed by the sales department) is an unsatisfactory one for Sunset-McGee, it is a matter within the company's power to correct in drawing future contracts

but if there is a doubt, the employee (or his estate), if the employer selects the words, should have the advantage of his boss's language which is susceptible of two intrinsically reasonable but opposite constructions." (Emphasis added)

In Jones vs. Servel, Inc., Indiana, 1962, 186 NE (2) 689, the deceased was not only not to compete during the relevant period, but was also required to perform affirmatively:

Page 691. "You will ... act in an advisory capacity, as a consultant to this corporation and any of its subsidiaries in connection with any matters relative to the business and affairs of said corporations, it being understood that you will hold yourself available to render the services which are required of you hereunder and will not engage in any other business or activities ... or maintain a place of residence, which in any case unreasonably interferes with performance by you hereunder..."

This argument included serving on Board of Directors and officer of any subsidiary to which he might be elected.

The facts of Jones vs. Joy Manufacturing, Mo. 1964, 381 SW 2d 86 involves a contract of employment whereby,

Page 862. "Joy hereby agrees to continue the employment of Jones in the position of District Manager of its Coal Machinery Division ... during the term and subject to the provisions of this agreement."

Jones died during the life of the contract.

In the context of the facts, we, too, can endorse Appellant's quote. (Appellant's Brief, page 25). Obviously, the ability to perform the affirmative acts terminated on his death.

POINT IV

BOTH FACTS AND LAW REQUIRE IN EQUITY THE AFFIRMATION OF THE JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT TO PREVENT FORFEITURE AND UNJUST ENRICHMENT.

Seller's heart trouble known to Buyer motivated sale and permitted

Buyer to allocate values arbitrarily to items constituting Seller's business to Buyer's best tax interest without relation to actual values of elements.

The Trial Courts Findings supported by the evidence carries its own dignity.

From the standpoint of equity, if death as an act of God excuses performance then a judgment should not require a forfeiture, when a deliberate breach entails only such damages as the aggrieved party could prove. Carried to a logical conclusion, neither the decedent seller with heart attack, so known by buyer, who had sold with arbitrary values imposed by the buyer, nor that buyer who claims he hadn't given a thought to the death of the seller at the time of entering into the contract, could contend it was the intent of the parties that buyer be absolved from payment if seller died. Against the backdrop of buyer's drawing non compete instrument dated October 1, 1973 with the initial payment due January 20, 1974, is it reasonable to accept Defendant's contention that buyer was relieved of the obligation to pay any consideration, if seller were to have died on January 19, 1974?

An act of God having excused the observance of this negative covenant, it is incumbent on the Court to determine the equities of both parties in terms of benefits received as well as services performed.

Although this is not a proper instance of frustration, Castagno vs. Church, Utah, Aug. 1976; 552 P2d 1282, states a principle regarding damages which does equity here:

Page 1284. "If it was foreseeable there should have been provision for it in the contract, and the absence of such a provision gives rise to the inference that the risk was assumed."

.
.
.

the vendee has the right to insist upon performance by the vendor to the extent the latter is

able to perform with an abatement in the purchase price equal to the value of the deficiency or defect."

and, the Defendant-Appellant has proved no damage.

To find for Defendant-Appellant would require a finding that the parties impliedly agreed that Seller's remaining alive was a condition precedent to Buyer's monthly payment and that the liquidated agreed damages were equal to the unpaid portion of the price. The Court by so doing would graft two new provisions in the contract neither of which was in the contemplation of the parties.

CONCLUSION

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